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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSI PPI
NORTHERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
ex re.JOANNE HARTWIG PLAINTIFF

V. CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:11cv413-CWR-LRA

MEDTRONIC, INC,;

MEDTRONIC SOFAMOR DANEK USA,,
INC.; THOMAS A.ZDEBLICK, M.D,;

TAZ CONSULTING, INC.; CURTIS
A.DICKMAN, M.D.; VANTAGE
CONSULTING, INC.; ADAM

LEWIS M.D.; TAZ LLC; LEWIS

MEDICAL SERVICES, PLLC,;
LEWISPROPERTIES,LLC;

JACKSON NEUROSURGERY CLINIC, PLLC,;
AND JOHN DOE DEFENDANTS 1-5000 DEFENDANTS

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Before the Court is a series mibtions includinga Motion to Strike Amended Complaint
and Motion to Stay Proceedings, Docket No. 65; aradidvsto DismissRelatois Amended
Complaint. Docket Nos. 66, 69, 7Because other material outside the pleadings was presented
to ard not excluded by the Courgach of the motions to dismisgere treated amotions for
summary judgmentunderFed. R. Civ. P. 56 After careful consideration of the briefs, the
arguments of the parties and a hearing on tbh&éoms, the motion to strike is DENIED; the
motion to stay proceedings is deemed MOOT,; and the Defendants’ motion to dikmiss
amended complairare due to be GRNTED.

Background
A. Factual Background*

This case arises out ofcgui tamaction brought byelator Joanne Hartwign behalf of
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the United States Relator’)? Medtronic, a company that produces medical devices, had
developed products that they believed would have wide usage in spinal cord surdéees.
Relator alleges thatMedtronic developed a scheme to market btaHNFUSE and Pyramid
products for use in contexts not approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
or about January 2002, the FDgranted Medtronic’s premarket approval application for
Pyramid an “anterior plate fixation systemThe FDAhad limited the application ¢tyramidto

a certain type of spinal surgery (“the lumbrosacral level below the bifoincafi the vascular
structures,” or the L%&1).  Around July 2002, the FDA approved Medtronic’s premarket
application fof INFUSE, a seles of bone graft products. The approval was limited to the
application of the device from the 13l levels. In addition, the FDA required Medtronic to
conduct certain studies argbsting before releasinlFUSE on the market.

Dr. Thomas Zdeblick, an orthopedic surgeon and professor at the University of
Wisconsin,invented LFCAGE, the only device approved to act as tielivery vehicle fortte
INFUSEbone grafinto the body. He drafted a scholaalticle about LFCAGE and rhBMP, a
bone growth potein that serves the active ingredient in MedtronIblEUSE products. He
submitted it for publication irSpine the leading peerviewed medical magazine ossues
related to the spine. U.S. Department of Health and Human SerVidesS’] regulations
required that he make certain disclosures in the article, including the productstitonrte

Medtronic. In a “Point of View” response, Dr. John O’Brien of Londaised the possibility

! As will be explained more fully below, the recitation of factstaeplaintiff's version anchave been
accepted asue.

% See3l U.S.C.8 3730(b) (provides that persons who have evidence of &gaitst théJnited Satesmay
assert the Governmeéstclaim on its behalf)The FCA “provides for civil suits brought by both the Attorney
General and by private persons, termed relators, who serygoaseof ad hoc deputies to uncover and prosecute
frauds agamst the governmeritUnited States ex rel. Grubbs v. Kannegasis F.3d 180, 148(5th Cir. 2@9)
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that there were lonterm problems associated with the product and suggested that
vascularization, a more simple process for fusing parts of the spine or vertaigat have the
same level of effectivenessAccording to theRelator if O’Brien’s alternative proved to be
equivalent or better, it would render Zdeblick aviddtronic’s INFUSE products “useless and
unnecessary.”

In 2002, Zdeblick became editor-chief of the Journal of Spinal Disorders He
replaced two doctors who had served as longtimediors of the magazine before him. He
renamed the journalournal of Spinal Disorders and Techniqu€dSDT”) and repurposed the
journal from publishingonly scientific articles with strict oversight to articles with “[s]horter
clinical follow-up” and technical descriptions about new techniques for clinicians in prattice
October 2002, under Zdeblick’s leadership, the journal published an artiaelgttoared in part
by Dr. Curtis Dickman, who had developed Ehgamidplate andvho was supported financially
by Medtronic. Dickmanhadassisted in thapproval processf INFUSE Dickmanhadalso
submitted a letter to an FDA advisory panel in which he represented the importappeowfray
BMP, the key ingredient iiNFUSE. The October 2002 article ®INFUSE failed to disclose the
authors’ financial tiesot Medtronic, despite industry standards requiring such acknowledgment.

The Relatorclaims that Medtronianade designs to have ItidFUSE product supplant the
use of the gold standard procedure for spinal bone gr#fes use of autogenous borme,bone
taken fom the patient’s hip-and they used fraudulent statements and Federal funds to do so.
The JSDT published the article toutifdFUSE as the new gold standard; the article failed to
disclose the ties to Medtronic, Zdeblick’s financial interest in the produnct the possible

complications. Itdid not engage or counter any comparative studies using simple plaster of

(internd quotation mark®mitted)(emphasis added) 3



Paris, as suggested by Dr. O’'Brien. In a second arddeblick touted the use of L-CAGE,
his specific invention and companion [fdFUSE and rhBMR2. That article Hartwig alleges,
also failed to disclose the connection to Medtronic and served as a “covert adwstidenthe
product The article acknowledged Medtronic Sofamor Danek “for their help in dfétaan
and statistical analyses,” but did not revitddtronic’s ties or direct financial interests to the
“monumental” conclusions in the article.

The Relatorargues that failure to report these “clear conflicts of interests on the part of
those holding positions of trust both within the medical community and over patients tvaf par
the Defendants’ fraudulent enterprise. . . . [U]nchecked by appropriaterepemr, the
Defendants were able to systemically accomplish their goals.”

In 2002, around the time Zdeblick took over JSDT and the FDA’'s approval of
Medtronic’s premarket applications fdNFUSE and Pyramid Relator Hartwig's doctor, Dr.
Adam Lewis, opened his practice undeseries of new names in Mississippi. After a spinal cord
surgery that resultein complications, Hartwig filed a medical malpractice suit against Dr.
Lewis; a jury found in her favor and awarded compensatory damages in May 2011. During
discovery in that casdhe Relatorcontends that Lewis lied about his financial interest with
Medtronic. Duringthe trial, he disclosed that he knew and had worked with Dickman on the
development of the Medtronieyramidplate. In discovery in a separate civil action in federal
district court in Texas, Medtronic admitted that Dr. Lewis had servedcamsultant on the
Pyramidplate® The Relatorargues that Medtronic’s conduct violates the federatkaciback
law, particularly its prohibition against physicians’ use of products intwMedtronic pays

them royalties.



The Relatorargues that Dr. Lews and the defendants experimented on their patients by
using thePyramid plate andINFUSE products without advising the patients or gaining their
informed consent. The goals were: 1) to cover for sham agreements, in which ilgiormat
gathered from using Bdtronic products on their patients could be “passed off as justification for
the Defendant phys&ns’ real contributions.” (e.g. Medtronic paid $23 million to Zdeblick for
INFUSE but used the infonation gathered from Zdeblick’s contracting doctors, including
Lewis, to justify payment for a different product); and 2) to perform unautlibruzes of
Medtronic products on human subjects without their consent to expand their approved use by
showing successful “offabel” uses. Defendants expanded Ryeamidplate’s use from L551
only in 2002 to a higher number in 2007, under the namgi@mid+4.

Hartwig testified in her medical malpractice suit that Dr. Lewis told her that her 2005
surgery would be like her 2001 surgery on a similar part of her spine. She contehdsvibat
used aPyramidplate at L3L4 at a time when that practice was an-laffel use. He then
reported his “successful experience” with this-laffel use (despite a lawsuit that eventually
resulted in a verdict for Hartwig). In turn, Dickman and Zdebleke paid by Medtronic for
“consulting/research.”

Overall, Relator Hartwi¢s complaint outlines a “scheme to launder payments” from
Medtronic to Dr. Lewis, via Dr. Dickman and Dr. Zdeblickm. Compl. 1 69, 79, 83, 8Ghe
alleged connection gears to be the existence of a Mississippi corporation with the same
business address as Dr. Lewis that also happens to have the same initials dsblixk.Z
Compl 1 86. Elsewhere in her complaint, howevleeRelator identifies two different occasions

during discovery and at her medical malpractice trial where Dr. Lewifigddsthat he had never

3 SeeDocket No. 61, at 18. 5



received funds from Medtronic. Am. Compl. 1-6@ In addition, Medtronis online
disclosure of payments to physicians does not report any payments to 0s.diger. Am.
Compl. 11 81-82TheRelator alleges that Medtronic violated trase Claims Acf*FCA”) (31
U.S.C. 88 3729(a)(1), (a)(2), and)(3) (2006)) by allegedly conspiring with the physician
defendants to disseminate favorapkeerreviewed journal articles regardinFUSE and to
perform experimental procedures witthe Pyramid Plate. Am. Compl. 1 388, 66 The
Relator alsasserts that Medtronic paid kickbacks to the physician defendants whichd-ésulte
false claims for payment through false certifications of caanpke with the AKS.Am. Compl.
19 5#58, 65, 67, 69-70, 76, 78-87, 90, 92.
The counts in the amended complaint are as follows:
Counts HII: Violations of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. 8§ 3&8S%eq
Count IV: Violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b (provisions governing required disclosures
for federal and state health care programs)
Count V: “Civil Penalties or Awards Arising from Criminal Conduct . . . including
not limited to those relative to 18 U.S.C. 88 1341, 1342, 1352, 1356, and 1357,
covering Mail Fraud, Wire Fraud, Travel to Effect the Scheme, Money Laundering
and Use of Dirty Money, to effectuate the fraudulent scheme.”
Count VI: Violations of 45 C.F.R. 46 seq (the “Common Rule”)
Count VII: Violations of Settlement Agreement Between Medtronic and HHS
Count VIII: Unjust Enrichment
B. Procedural History
On July 8, 2011Hartwig filed a complaint against the following defendants: 1)
Medtronic and itsrelated entities Mledtronic Sofamor Danek USA, Inc.; Medtronic, Inc.)
(collectively “Medtronic™); 2) Dr. Thomas A. Zdeblick and his related entifEsomas A.
Zdeblick, individually; TAZ Consulting, Ing.(collectively, “Zdeblick”); 3) Dr. Adam Lewis and
his related entities (Adam Lewis, individuallyewis Medical Services, PLLC; Lewis Properties,

LLC; TAZ, LLC; Jackson Neurosurgery Clinic, PLLCcollectively, “Lewis”); 4) Dr. Curtis A.
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Dickman(Curtis A. Dickman, individually; Vantage Consulting, Incollectively, “Dickman”)
and 5) John Doe Defendant$@00 Docket No. 1. The United States declined to intervene in
the action. Docket No. 8. The Lewis defendants filed an answer to the complaint emt&apt
25, 2012. Docket Nos. 2Z2Z3. On November 26, 2012, Dickman, Zdeblick, and Medtronic all
filed motions to dismiss theriginal complaint. Docket Ne. 44, 45, 48. Zdeblick and Dickman
joined in Medtronic’s motion and memorandum. Docket Nos. 50,l®lvis also joined in the
motions filed byall three of the other defendants. Dockets No. 56, 57, 58. On December 18,
2012, he Relatoffiled a Second Amended Complaint. Docket Bb. Lewis moved to strike
the amended complaint or stay proceedings. Docket. Nb. B&ch of the Defendants movex
dismiss the Second Amended Complaint. Dockets No. 66, 68, 69,0i2kman and Lewis
joined in Medtronic’s motion to dismiss and memorandum. Docket No. 74, 76. Lewis also
joined in Zdeblick's motion and memorandum. Docket No. TBe Relator file a response in
opposition to Medtronic’s motion to dismiss the amended complaint. Docket No. 81. Dickman,
Lewis, and Medtronic filed replies in support of their motions to dismiss. Docket Nos. 83, 84,
86, respectively. The Defendants also joined in Medtronic’s reply to the Relegspense,
Docket Nos. 87, 88, 90, and Dickman joined in Lewis’s reply. Docket No. 89.

In the Relatots amended complaint, she effectively seeks to cure deficiencies in the
original complaint. For the reasons belowhe Defendantare entitled ta judgments amatter
of law.

L egal Standards

A. Rule 56 Standard

* In the Second Amendedb@plaint, Relatoremoved Johoe Defendants-5000. DockeNo. 61.
® The Relator responded to Lewis’s motion to strike or stay proceeding&etide. 77.
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“[A] challenge under the FCA jurisdictional bar is necebsariertwined with the merits
and is, therefore, properly treated as a motion for summary judgmignitéd States ex rel.
Reagan v. E. Tex. Med. Ctr. Regealthcare Sys.384 F.3d 168, 173 (5th Cir. 2004) (citation
and internal quotation marksnitted). When considering a motion to dismiss for failure to state
a claim upon which relief can be granted, if “matters outside the pleadingeaested to and
not excluded by the court, the motion must be treated as one for summary judgment wunder Rul
56.” Fed. RCiv.P. 12(d). Summary judgment is only proper when the record indicates that
there is not a “genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving patitjeid &
judgment as a matter of lawPed.R. Civ. P. 56. A genuine issue of fact exists only if the
evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the non-moving party.
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986ke alsdraita Chem. Co., Lta.
Westlake Styrene Cor246 F.3d 377, 385 (5th Cir. 2001). When considering a motion for
summary judgment, this Court “will review the facts drawing all inferences mastifale to the
party opposing the motion.Red v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. C@84 F.2d 577, 578 (5th Cir.
1986).

The party moving for summary judgment bears the initial burden of “informing the
district court of the basis for its motion, and identifying those portions of [the reabidh it
believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of materialGatitex Corp. v. Catrett,
477 U.S. 317, 3231986). Once the moving party has met its initial burden, however, “the
burden shifts to the nemoving party to produce evidence or designate specific facts showing
the existence of a genuine issue for trigkhgstrom v. First Nat Bank of Eagle Laket7 F.3d

1459, 1462 (5th Cirl995). In order to satisfy its burden, the noroving party must put forth

® Lewis joined in the motion to dismiss the arBended complaint filed tinisin. Docket No. 68.



competeh evidence and cannot rely on *“unsubstantiated assertions” and “conclusory
allegations.” SeeLujan v. Natl. Wildlife Fedn, 497 U.S. 871, 83 (1990);RSR Corp. v. Int
Ins. Co, 612 F.3d 851, 857 (5th Cir. 2010).

B. Rule 9(b) Standard

“[A] complaint filed under the False Claims Act must meet the heightened pleading
standard of Rule 9(b), which provides: ‘In alleging fraud or mistake, § paust state with
particdarity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistakdJhited States ex rel. Grubbs v.
Kanneganti 565 F.3d 180, 185 (5th Ci2009 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(bflootnote omitted)
Whereas Rule 9(b) generally requires a plaintiff to plead the “time, placeoatehtsof a false
representation, as well as the identity of the person making the misrepresesma what that
person obtained thereby, the Fifth Circuit has held that this standard is najackefi United
States ex rel. Colquitt v. Abbott Lab864 F. Supp.2d 499, 533 (N.D. Tex2012) (citing
Grubbs 565 F.3d at 186, 19@yuotation marks omitted) Therefore, in the context of a claim
under the FCA presentment provision, “which makes liable any person who ‘knowingintstes
or causes to be presented’ a false claim to the Governn@mtybs 565 F.3d at 188 (quoting 31
U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)), “a relator's complaint, if it cannot allege the details ddcarally
submitted false claim, may nevertheless survive by alleging particular deftalstieme to
submit false claims paired with reliable indicia that lead to a strong inferenceldimas were
actually submitted.”ld. at 190.

Lastly, “[tlhe particularity requirements of Rule 9(b) apply to the [FSTA&onspiracy
provision with equal force as to its ‘presentment’ and ‘record’ provisionkl! at 193.

Therefore, in order to sustain a claim for conspiracy to commit fréwedetator must “plead



with particularity the conspirgcas well as the overt acts. . taken in furtherance of the
conspiracy.”ld. (citation omitted).
Analysis
I. Motion to Strike Amended Complaint
As an initial matter, the Court will address the motion to strike the amended complaint
filed by Defendant Lewis. Docket No. 6%ule 15 provides for amendment)(dsa matter of
course, and (2) with consent or leave, stating in pertinent part:

(1) Amending as a Matter of Courge party may amend its pleading
once as anatter of course within:

(A) 21 days after serving it, or

(B) if the pleading is one to which a resysive pleading is required, 21

days afterservice of a responsive pleading or 21 days after service of a

motion under Ruld2(b) , (e), or (f) , whichever is earlier.

(2) Other Amendmentdn all other cases, a party may amend its pleading

only with the opposing partg written casent or the coud’leave.The

court shouldreely give leave when justice so requires.
Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(&)-2). Lewis argues that the Court should strike the amended complaint for
two reasonsthe Relator was not allowea tamend as a matter of course under the plain reading
of Rule 15; the last day to file the amended complaint would have been October 4;22012
days after the last defendant was served with preeasd theRelator filed the amended
complaint on December 18, 2012, after the required date; and because it was filed Ww&hout t

opposing party’s written consent and without leave of court, in violation of Federal Rulalof C

Procedure 15(a)(2). The Relator replies that Lewis has not shown that amended complati

” On the alternative motion to stay, Lewis also requested that, if the §ldkes the amended complaint,
that the @urt issue an order staying any attorney conferences, disclosuneneguis, and all discovery pursuant to
Local Rule 16(b)(3)(B) to save resources for the parties and the Couiis raply to Relator’'s response, however,
Lewis admits that the reliadf the stay requested has already been addressed and granted in parCowrthis
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did not fall within the purview of Rule 15(a)’s allowance of amendment as a roatteurse.

It is important to note thdfa] motion to strike is considered an exceptional remedy and
is generally disfavored, aride proponent of such a motion must shoulder a formidable burden.”
United States ex rel. Hockett v. Columbia/HCA Healthcare C&@8 F. Supp. 2d 25, &b
(D.D.C. 2007) (internal citation omitted). In faétederal Rule 15(a)(2) provides that leave to
amend should be freely granted “when justiceezpires.” Although the Court recognizes that
the Relator failed to obtain leave of court before filing her amended complaimt has not
demonstrated any showing of prejudice as the resulieoRelator’s failure to obtain leave of
court in order tdfile the amended complaint following Bsdans’ motiors © dismiss the initial
complaint.

In this case, there is no substantial difference between thedsera first amended
complaint. As the Fifth Circuit recognized in a similar case, a court maydesran amended
complaint filed without leave of court where it“isiore procedurally expedient to consider the
complaint filed than to strike the amended complaint and then grant leave tandither
complaint that raised the exact same issuesl moreimportant, the partiesvould be in the
same position regardless of which procedure the court uddwifed Stateex rel. Mathews v.

HealthSouth Corp.332 F.3d 293, 2967 (5th Cir. 2003} Additionally, all the parties in this

that “[d]iscovery has been stayed except with respect to any discovergdnesghrding jurisdictional issues.”
Docket No. 79, at 3. Thus, it appears that he would no longer like to pynrelering this motion moot.

8 For this proposition, the Fifth Circuit citédicks v. Resolution Trust Corp/67 F. Supp. 167, 170 (N.D.
lIl. 1991), in which the court considered the amended complaintdiled though th&elatornever requested leave
because the complaint “merely alleged additional theories of liabidised on the same set of facts,” which the
court would have allowed thelatorto refile. Similarly, in this case, the Defendants have recognizatthe
amened complaint is not very different from the original complai®eeMedtronic Reply to MTD, Docket No. 73,
at 1 (indicating that Relator filedn amended complaint, “adding six paragraphs to the originakpatagraph,
complaint, deleting six paragraphsnd making inconsequential modifications to 24 other paragraphs” (citing
Declaration of Michael J. Vitdocket No. 72Ex. 1 (Redline of Complaint against Amended Complaint)). In fact,
Lewis joined in that memorandum, Docket No. 76, along with the difefendants, but none of the other
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case havéreated the motion®tdismissas poperly in issue. Both of these reasons support a
denial of the motion to strikeSee Georgia Power Project v. Georgia Power,d09 F. Supp.
332, 336-37(N.D. Ga. 1975). Retaining the amended complaint also supports the underlying
principles of Rule 15, and in this case, furghre progress of the litigationSee Allstate Life
Ins. Co. v. Estate of Reedo. 1:.05CV164LG, 2007 WL 1040507at *6 (S.D. Miss. Mar. 30,
2007) (accepting amended pleading filed without leave of courtr uhdecircumstancetn the
interest of judicial economy”gff'd sub nom. Allstate Life Ins. Co. v. Parn@92 F. App’'x 264
(5th Cir. 2008); Wright, Miller & Kane[Federal Practice and Procedurg 1484 (1990)
(“Permitting an amendment without formal Apgtion to the court under these circumstances is
in keeping with the overall liberal amendment policy of Rule 15(a) and theagelesirability of
minimizing needless formaliti¢y. Thus, the Court will consider the amended complaint as
filed.

I1. ClaimsAgainst Medtronic/All Defendants’

Under the False Claims Act, Title 31 U.S.C. 837%%eq, civil liability lies against any
person who “(1) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, to an officer or empthgee of
United States Government . . . a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval; (2)
knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statgatemfalse or
fraudulent claim paid or approved by the Government; [or] (3) conspires to defraud the

Governmehby getting a false or fraudulent claim allowed or paid . Seé31 U.S.C. 83729(a)

Defendants joined in this motion to strikdn a status conference, the parties also agreed thatAmended
Complaint and the motions related thereto are the relevant pleadings Cotint to consider.” Tex®nly Order,
Sept. 17, 2013 (emphasis added).

During the litigation, Medtronic’s motion to dismiss and responsive plgadimereafter have served as
the main source of all of the Defendants’ arguments, as indicated by tmedBefs’ joinder in each of Medtiiots
filings on the motion. Accordingly, the Court will first csider Medtronic’s arguments and address the specific
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Grubbs 565 F.3d 180, 193 (5th Cir. 2009kor the reasons stated below, the Relator has not
establishedhatthereis a genuinessue ® material fact as to whether the Defendants submitted
false claimaunder the FCA.
A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

Defendants have gued that the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction tweRelator’s
gui tamaction under the FCA because the allegations in the complaint are based upon previously
disclosed information.The Defendants allege that, well befdine Relatorfiled her complaint,
the gawernment was already aware of allegations concerning Medtronic’s pormoti its
INFUSE andPyramid productsand its collaboration with physiciszonsultants. The Court
agrees.

The FCA’s public disclosure bar provides that “[n]o court shall have jurisdictionamve
[FCA qui tan] action . . . based upon the public disclosure of allegations or transactionsina.. ..
criminal, avil, or administrative hearing, in a congressional, administrative . . . report, hearing
audit, or investigation, or from the news media, unless . . . the person bringing dmeisaein
original source of the information.” 31 U.S.€.3730(e)(4)8).'° This jurisdictional inquiry
requires court$o consider three questions: “(1) whether there has been a ‘public disclosure’ of
allegations or transactions, (2) whether guetamaction is ‘based upon’ such publicly disclosed
allegations, and (3) if so, whether the relator is the ‘original source’ of themafion.” Fed.

Recovery Servs., Inc. v. United Staté3 F.3d 447, 450 (5th CifL995). The purpose of this

arguments of other Defendants who have filed separate pleadhege they are relevant and require additional
analysis.
19 The public dislosure bar was amended by the Patient Protection and Affordabléd@afeub. L. 111
148, 124 Stat901, signed into law on March 23, 2010. The amendments are irrelevant hersebduay do not
apply retroactively to alleged false claims made before March 23, 2010, and Rektoot identified any claims
occurring after that datélnited States ex rel. Osheroff v. Humana,,Iin. 1024486c¢v, 2012 WL 4479072, at *4
13



jurisdictional bar is to accommodate the primary goals of the False Claims Agbr@incting
private citizen involvement in exposing fraud against the government” and (2) “preyenti
parasitic suits by opportunistictéecomers who add nothing to the exposure of fraudriited
States ex rel. Reagan v. E. Tex. Med. Ctr. Reg’l Healthcare 34 .F.3d 168, 176 (5th Cir.
2004).

1. Previously Disclosed Information

Under31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4), the Court must first consfadrether there has been a
‘public disclosure’ of allegations or transactionsd. The “public disclosure” jurisdictional bar
applies where the allegations have been disclosed in “a criminal, civil, or adatinéstrearing,
in a congressional, administrative, or government accounting office report, headitg or
investigations, or from the news media.The Relatofs claims are as followst) improper
collaboration betweerdefendantsto increase use (includingff-label use) of INFUSEand
Pyramid Plate through the drafting of ctin peerreviewed publications?2) Medtronic paid
kickbacks to the physician defendants which resulted in false claims forepayhrough false
certificaions of compliance with the AKS3) Dr. Lewis and other physician defendants
performed surgeries on patients “@perimentatioh without “informed conserit and 4)the
Defendants entered into “faudulent enterpriseand civil conspiracy to submita variety of

“false records !

n.8 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 28, 2012) (citiGgaham Cnty.130 S. Ct. at 1400 n.1).

Y “Those false records included, but were not limited to: (a) false recordaigehtenrreimbursement of
medical services for surgeries and related care; (b) false records generagedlfarsement of Medtronic products;
(c) false records generated to conceal the fraudulent sdbemmaintain the appearance of compliance with -Anti
Kickback laws and regulations; (d) false recagdserated in order to launder money in an effort to fatglithe
fraudulent scheme to maintairethppearance of compliance with Atickback laws and regulations; (e) false
records intended tdefraud the Office of the Inspector General into believing Medtronic wagripl@nce with the
provisions of the Comrate Integrity Agreement between the Office of Inspector General Bfegpartment of
Health and Human Services and Medtronic Sofamor Danek USA, Inc., eimierad part of a settlement of other
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In this case, Medtronic argues thlaé Relator’s actions have been publicly disclosed in
the following ways: (a) an investigation by the U.S. Department of Jusfiged to INFUSE,
which was widely reported in the press and was the focus of a securities ttas$aacsuit; (b)

a Congressional inquiry into, among other things, financial ties between Med#aodic
physicians who use INFUSE and communication wittysptians about INFUSE clinical
research, which was also publicly reported; (c) press reports that sphcifocaised on the
relationship between Dr. Zdeblick and Medtronic; and perhaps most impori@tiysior qui
tamlitigation. SeeDocket No. 49, at 13-14.

According to the record,early ten years beforthe Relator filed her complaint, the
United States intervened in an earlgui tamaction that alleged, in part, “that Medtronic paid
physicians to encourage the use of INFUSE foflaifel purposes. See United States ex rel.
Doe v. Medtronic No. 022709 (W.D. Tenn. 2002). In July 2006, Medtronic settled claims
arising from theDoe complaint including claims arising from “payments mauesuant to
consulting, royalty, fellowship and research agreements with” a numipéysicians (including
Dr. Zdeblick) from January 1, 1998 to April 1, 2003, a period toakrs his authorship of the
three articles described in the instant complaibcket No. 48CaffreyDecl. Ex. 16 at 2 (2006
Settlement Agrement). In addition, a secondui tamactionraised the same allegations as the
Doe complaint and was dismissed in connection Wit government’s settlement bbe See
U.S. ex rel. Poteet v. Medtronig52 F.3d 5036th Cir. 2009). Finally, a thirdqui tam action
(“Poteet 11") alleged that 120 spingurgeons and 18 medical device distributors committed
violations of the FCA byccepting kickbacks from Medtronidd., Caffrey Decl. Ex. 17 (U.S.

ex rel. Poteet v. Lenk€omplaint). The court dismissed this third complaint in March 2009,

claims; (f) and others. Am. Compl.{ 98. 15



reasoning that itallegations were jurisdictionally barred because of prior public diséosur
theallegations.Id., Caffrey Decl. Ex. 18 at 4, P6teet 1IOpinion).

“An FCA qui tamaction even partly based uporbjia allegations or transactions is
nonetheless based upon such allegations or transactions” and should be disRessgoh 384
F.3d at 176(quotationmarks omitted); 31 U.S.C. § 3730(e)(4)(BA public disclosure occurs
when the “essentia@lements” of the allegedly fraudulent transaction are setkinto the public
domain. United States ex rel. Branch Consultants v. Allstate Ins. 868 F.3d 371, 377 (5th
Cir. 2009). Every factsupporting a relator’s allegations need not be publicly disclosddngs
as there is enoughformation to“alert[] the govenment to . . . the fraud.United States ex rel.
Jamison v. McKesson Cor®49 F.3d 322, 329 (5th Cir. 2011) (quotation marks omitted).
Disclosures that create d@mference of fraud,” which can bdrawn from facts revealed in
different sources, are sufficientUnited States ex rel. Colquitt v. Abbott Lat&64 F. Supp. 2d
499, 519 (N.D. Tex. 2012) (quotatiomarks omitted).A qui tamaction is “based upon” public
disclosures ithe allegationsn the complaint are “the same assabstantially similar to those
that hae been disclosed” publiclyUnited States ex rel. Lam v. Tenet Healthcare Cai@l F.
Supp. 2d 673, 683 (W.D. Tex. 200df.the conplaint “repeats what the public already knows,
regardless of whether or not Relators learned about the fraud independent of the public
disclosures,it is still consideredbased updhthe public disclosuresid. Similarly, “providing
more specific details about what happededs not change the fact that [relator’s] allegation is
substantially similar to and therefore ‘bdsapon’ the pubtly disclosed allegations United
Statesex rel. Davis v. District of Columbja679 F.3d 832, 837D(C. Cir. 2012) (internal

guotation marks omittefl)
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As for the priorqui tam litigation, it is well settled that ‘fay information disclosed
through civil litigation and on file with the clerk’'s office should lensicgred a public
disclosure of allegations in a civil hearing for purposes of section 3{8[{fd.” Fed. Recovery
Servs., Inc. v. United State$2 F.3d 447, 450 (5th Cir. 1995) (quotation marks omitted)).
Statementanade to the FDAare sufficientto put the government on notice of potential fraud
See, e.g.United States ex rel. Gilligan v. Medtronic, Ind03 F.3d 386, 390 (6th Cir. 2005)
Work in medical journals is also covered by the public disclosureSeaColquitt, 864 F. Supp.
2d at 518 (applying the tertmews mediaas used in the False ClairAst statute to “scholarly,
scientific, and technical periodicals”) (citations omitted)hese disclosures fit squarely within
the FCA'’s specified public sources31 U.S.C.8 3730(e)(4)(A) (enumeratingdministrative
hearings, reports, or investigations and nemedia) see alsoUnited Satesex rel. Jones v.
Collegiate Funding Servs., In@l69 F. App’x 244, 256 (4th Cir. 2012) DJocuments created by
private parties constitutfe] materials of ‘administrativearings’ for the FCA . . can also
constitute an administrativeeport” including priately-created SEC filings United States ex
rel. Repko v. Guthrie Clinic, P.C490 F. Appx 502, 504(3d Cir. 2012) (characterizing website
content as goublic disclosure of informatior)’

All of the key allegatios the Relator's amended complaint are based on publicly
available information.The RelatordNFUSE-related publication allegatiorsse premised upon
facts from newspaper articles, Senafgnance Committee investigation letters, FDA
submissionsprior qui tam litigation, and peereviewedmedical journals.Am. Compl. 1 2—-
40, 42-55 57, 77, 80. The Relator'sPyramidPlate allegations also rely on the information from

prior qui tamlitigation, supplemeted by further publicly disclosed informatiohe Relator’s
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allegations involving Drs. Lewis, Zdeblick and Dickman, along with thelationship to
Medtronic and each other, have come fragministrative filings witithe Mississippi Secretary

of State anatontent on Medtronic’s physician relationships websiteits responsethe Relator

has provided a policy argument, suggesting that the Defendants have unduly broadened the
application of the public disclosure bar to include “public information” contained indfadR's
complaint instead of limiting the bar to publicly disclosed “allegations or transactiorhe
Relator lasnot disputed that its allegations or the transactions that it has described dye large
based onpreviously disclosed, or publiegnformation for the purposes of applying the FCA
public disclosure barThe “essential elements” tiie Relator'sclaims herewere in the public
domain years before she filed her complaiSee Branch ConsultantS60 F.3d at 377.Thus,
those allegations are barred under the public disclosure rule.

2. Original Source

If an FCA complaint is based upon public disclesy the action is jurisdictionally barred
unless the relator establishes that she is an original source. 31 U.S.C. § 3730(e){®)(A)
qualify as an original sourcthe Relator must “possess direct and indepenéeativledge of the
information on which the publicly disclosed allegations are bas&kagan 384 F.3d at 177
(quotation marks omitted). See alsoUnited Statesex rel. Woods v. Southe&Zare, Inc,
3:09cv313, 2013 WL 5445239, at *1 (S.D. Miss. Sept. 30, 2013)e Relator’'s allegations
related to INFUSE anByramidproductsare derived entirelfrom public disclosures.

In her amended complaint, at Docket No. ¥ Relator has added specific details about
her treatment from Dr. Lewis. These amendments before filing her atestier initial motions

to dismiss gggest that her response to this defense is that she is the “original source” of
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information in this action because the treatment from Dr. Lewis wasv/egtby her personally.
The Relator’s recitation of Dr. Lewis’s alleged statements to her regardengiicedure that
formed the basis of her malpractice action, Am. Compl. 1 66, 69, cannot form thefoasi
FCA claim, as they do nothing to establish her personal knowledge regardsgothession of
any false claim. Her claims are still subsumed withensame underlying theory of unapproved
promotion and sales alleged in prior complairsge, e.g.Branch Consultants560 F.3d at 378
(relator cannot avoid the first-file bar “by simply adding factual details or geographic
locations to the essentiar material elements of a fraud claim against the same defendant
described in a prior compl[ai]lnt”)The Relator provided a conclusory allegation that she is the
“original source” of the information, relying on the public disclosures cited abdmeher
regponse, she has not refuted these arguments or indicated that she is thesaigaeaof any
specific claim that would be entitled to survive the motion to disnfiese Rockwell Int’l Corp.
v. United States549 U.S. 457476(2007) (holding tat the fact that public disclosure leard
whether relator is an original sourceust be analyzed on a clainy-claim basis). Without
direct and independent knowleddke Relator is not an original source. Thus, the Court lacks
subject matter jurisdictiomnder the public disclosure bar atite Defendants are entitled to
judgmentas a matter of law.

Even assuming that the Court does hswigject matter jurisdiction, theomplaint is due
to be dismissed fdhe fdlowing reasons below.
B. Failureto State A Claim (Rule 12(b)(6))

The Relator appears to advance three general theories of FCAylidhilithat Medtronic

collaborated with the physician defendants to disseminate favorablaepaaved journal
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articles to “broaden the use” of INFUSE; (2) that Medic conspired with Dr. Lewis to perform
experimental procedures with tikyramidPlate to expand the use of that prodwdhout the
patients informed consentand (3) that Medtronic caused false and fraudulent claims for
payment to federal healthcangroviders by making or causing false representations of
compliance with the AKSAm. Compl. 1130-58 66, 90—92. Courts have held that to properly
plead a FCA complaint relator must at a minimum allege “(1) a false statemeatdulént
course of conduct; (2) made or carried out with the regussitenter; (3) that was materialdan
(4) that is presented to tligovernment.”United States ex rel. Steury v. Cardiégalth, Inc,
625 F.3d 262, 267 (5th Cir. 2010)he Relator, however, has failed to allege the most basic
elements of an FCAlaim.

On its face, the amended complaint sets out a series of allegaabnshh says, indicate
a general marketing scheme “designed to broaden the application of [INFU$Eyramid by
end users.” Am. Compl. { 17. In addition, the complaint avers in a conclusory manner that
Defendants falsely certified compliance with the AHKS connection with claims for
reimbursement. Am. Compl. § 92. Neither allegation is sufficient, as a matter, ¢ Ieaise a
plausible claim for relief.United States ex rel. Rafizadeh v. Cont’| Comnhon, 553 F.3d 869,
873 (5th Cir. 2008) (Relato“must state the factual basis for the fraudulent claim with
particularity and cannot rely on speculation or conclusional allegations.”).

1. Off-Label Use of INFUSE andyramid

The Relator alleges that the Defendants engaged in a “scheme” of iliefjdbbel
marketing” of INFUSE andPyramid “which was encouraged by the use of kickbacks disguised

as payments for other services.” Theselalfel uses allegedly were to expand the FDA'’s
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approved uses for the devices. Am. Compl. T 3, 68, 69A9%he Supreme Court has noted,
“off -label use [of medical devices] is generally accepted” in medical praBtickman Co. v.
Plaintiffs’ Legal Comm).531 U.S. 341, 351 (2001), and is expressly permitted under the Federal
Food, Drug and Cosmeti@ct (“FDCA"), see21 U.S.C. 8§ 396 (2006). Ofabeluse is also not
a bar to federal reimbursementinited Stées ex rel. George v. Bos. Sci. Cqor64 F. Supp. 2d
597, 600 (S.D. Tex. 2012) (“The FDA does nestrict hospitals from purchasing, or physicians
from prescribing or using, products for -tdbel uses. To the contrary, efibel use of many
medical devices and drugs is an accepted megreatice.j. Accordingly, allegations of off
label promotion are insufficient to bring rise to F@Ability. United States ex rel. King v.
Solvay S.A.823 F. Supp. 2d 472, 510 (S.D. Tex. 20¥Axated in part on other ground2012
WL 1067228 (S.D. Tex. Mar. 28, 2012) (“FCA liability does attach to violations of federal
law or regulations, such as marketing of drugs in violation ofthad, Drug, & Cosmtic Act,
that are independent of any false claim.” (citations omitt&®8nnett 2011 WL 1231577, at *29
(“[E]ven if a drug or device manufacturer's marketing oorpotion activities violate FDA
regulations, that is insufficient to plead that the manufactutesechphysicians or hospitals to
submit false claims for reimbursement.”).

2. Lack of Informed Consent

The Relator has alleged that Defendantdated tle FCA because they falsely certified
to Medicare and other federal health agencies that they had obtained infaynsssht from

patients before makintheseoff-label uses of Medtronic’s products. The Relator argues that

12 The Relator allegesn pertinent parthat “the Defendants have violated, or caused to be violated, a
number of provisions of the United States Code, and implicating otheraFad#rorities, including, but not limited
to:. ..

(b) 42 C.F.R8482.13, codifying the Patient’s rights to Informed Consent;
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HHS would never have paid the $erequested if‘payment would not have been made had the
Defendants’ express or implied certifications of compliance with the-Kinkback Statute
(“AKS") and the Common Rule” been given. Relator Response to MTD Am. Compl, Docket
No. 77, at 7. Defendants hazegued thathe Relator has not alleged that Medtronic knowingly
caused the submission of a false claim.

The informed consent “schemdhat the Relator alleges cannédrm the basis for FCA
liability because payment of Medicare claims does not require infororesknt. United States
ex rel. Steury v. Cardinal Health, In&25 F.3d 262, 269 (5th Cir. 2010) (“[A] false certification
of compliance, without more, does not give rise to a false claim for payment paigaent is
conditioned on compliance.”).*Provision of informed consent to patientge42 C.F.R. 88
482.13, 482.51 (2012), is a condition @articipation in Medicare enforced through
administrative mechanisms, not a condition of payment considered actionable unééAthe
United States ex rel. Inglers v. Baptist Mem’l Health Care Coyb25 F. Supp. 2d 972, 978
(W.D. Tenn. 2007) (conditions of participation codified at 42 C.F.R. 88 482¢&q “are quality
of care standards directed towards an entity’s continued ability to patécn the Medare
program rather than a prerequisite to a particular payment”).

The Relator has argued that questions regarding conditions of payment are questions of
fact, according to Fifth Circuit precederbee Gonzales v. Fresenius Med. Care No89 F.3d

470, 476 r6 (5th Cir. 2010) (citingUnited States ex rel. Thompson v. Columbia/HCA

(c) 42 C.F.R. 8482.51, covering the infoldmepnsent of surgical patients;

(d) 45 C.F.R. 846, covering the conduct of medical research on hsulgacts with the
support of federal funds, knovas the “Common Rule[and]

(e) 18 U.S.C. 81035 of the Criminal Code covering the making of “Fatageements
Relating to Health Care Matters” involving any health care bepsdigram, public or
private;cf. 18 U.S.C. 1347 of the Criminal Code coveringgdith Care Fraudhvolving
any health care benefit program, public or private . . .”
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Healthcare Corp. 125 F.3d 899, 902 (5th Cir. 1997))The Relator contends that there is
“sufficient indicia of reliability” to support heallegations. This Court disagree$he Relator
has failed to assert the existence of a false certification of compliddcat 475. Insteadhe
Relatorsummarily concluded that “[ijn making claims for services and product reimhearge
the Defendants, and each of them, represented compliatica material condition of payment
that was not in fact met.” Am. Compl. § 92.

Even given that questions regarding conditions of payment are questions dhéact,
Relator still bears the burden of pleading facts to show that Defendants’ liabildt least
plausible. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678. “[C]onclusory allegationgl not suffice to prevent a motion
to dismiss and neither will unwarranted deductions of fadiriited States ex rel. Willard v.
Humana Health Plan of Tex., Inc336 F.3d 375, 379 (5th Cir. 2003) (quotation marks and
citations omitted).

The Relator's allegation requires proof of an AKS violation to establish false
certifications of the AKS. United States ex rel. Jamison v. McKesson Cad¥o. 2:08cv214,
2012 WL 4499136, at *11 (N.D. MisSept. 28, 2012) (rejecting FCA claim premised upon
AKS violation “because there was no violation of the Afitkback Statute”). Howeveran
AKS violation alone does not create a cause of action under the FCA because evidence of an
actual false claim igssential to an FCA violationHarrison v. Westinghouse Savannah River
Co, 176 F.3d 776, 785 (4th Cir. 1999)Tfhe statute attaches liability, not to the underlying
fraudulent activity or to the government’s wrongful payment, but to thenictar paymet.”
(citation omitted));United States ex rel. Hopper v. Ant@i F.3d 1261, 1266 (9th Cir. 1996).

Thus, even if there was an underlying violation of the AKS, and this Court declines to find such

Docket No. 61, 5. 23



based on these factsthere must still be a false claifor payment. Harrison, 176 F.3d at 785.
The Relator’s generalized allegations have been ruled insufficient to aléglse certification
theory in this circuit. See, e.g.United States ex rel. BennettBos. SciCorp., No. H-07-2467,
2011 WL 1231577, at *32 (S.D. Tex. Mar. 31, 2011) (dismissing for failure to state a claim
where “the relator has not alleged that the defendants caused any hospitalaarphysertify
compliance with the antikickback statute”.hus, Defendast motion to dsmiss for failure to
state a claim is granted.
C. Failureto Plead Fraud With Particularity (Rule 9(b))

In her response to the motions to dismibg Relator includes copies of bills that Dr.
Adam Lewis submitted to Medicare for payment for her back surgery. Docket No. 81, Ex. 1
She contends that she has submitted “reliable indicia of [her] allegatiomsepett a fraudulent
scheme.” Docket No. 82, at 6. Defendants have argued that the assertions in the complaint
regarding Medtronic’s relationships with physicians and promotional actikétyague anthat
the submission of bills standing aloffials to satisfy the particularity required under Rule 9(b).
This Court agrees.

An FCA complaint cannot survive a motion to dismiss without providing péatic
details to describe the “who, what, when, where, and how” of the fraimted Stateex rel.
Thompson v. Columbia/HCA Healthcare Cori25 F.3d 899, 903 (5th Cir. 1997pespite the

submission of these bills, she has not met the requirements lieéstablished law, which

1370 state a claim of an AKS violation, the Relator must allege that Medtroniag®jitkgly and willfully
(2) solicited or received, or offered paid remuneration (3) in return for, or to induce, referral or progedated
business.See42 U.S.C. § 1320&b. Without facts to support such allegatiahg Relator has failed to plead that
the payments to physicians were intended to induce referrdlsharefore her claims predicated upon an alleged
AKS violation must be dismissedJnited States ex rel. Nunnally v. W. Coast Calcasieu Cameron ,Hésp2:08
CV 0371, 2012 WL 1866586, aB*W.D. La. May 21, 2012)dismissing an FCA claim premised upon false
certification of compliance with the AKS where the complaint failed to altegt payments fiduced any improper
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requires an FCA complaint to pleapdrticular details of a schente submit false claims paired
with reliable indicia that lead to ftrong inferencehat claims were actually submittedUnited
Statesex rel. Grubbs v. Kannegan®65 F.3d 180, 190 (5th CR009) (emphasis added)nited
Statesex rel. Woods v. SoutheZare 3:09cv313, 2013 WL 1339375, at *3 (S.D. Miss. March
30, 2013). As for her claims against Medtronic, Redator must plead with particularifgcts
detailing how Medtronic “caused the submission of false clainBdghnett 2011 WL 1231577,
at *29 (citing Grubbs 565 F.3d at 1902); see also Colquity. Abbott Labs.864 F. Supp. 2d
499, 534 (N.D. Tex. 2012).

The most indispensable element of an FCA violation is a false cldinited States ex
rel. Clausen v. Lab. Corp. of Am., In@90 F.3d 1301, 1311 (11th Cir. 200Pited States ex
rel. Jamison v. McKesson Coyp84 F. Supp. 2d 664, 676 (N.D. Miss. 2011hndeed, the
Relator has not alleged that evitie Medicarepaymentthat sheentered into evidence included
information that proved to be falsel-or example, she has nallegedthat Lewis requested
payment for a surgery that he did not perfori8ee, e.g.Colquitt, 864 F.Supp. 2d at 530
(“[L]iability under the FCA will attach only ithe person making the claim to the government
was not entitled to the money or property it requested.he Medicare payment documeraiso
make no reference to Medicarayment foreither device. Tis, the Relator has not provided
any indication that her physician used either product without her consent, mudtatese tuse
would make any of the defendants liable under the FCA.

Furthermore, he Relator's complaint lacksufficient detail regarding Medtronic’s
involvement in the submission of claims related to the Relator’s procedure andupsbies

conclusory assertions about an alleged “scher8ae has failed to plead with particularity fraud
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and the conspiracy which led to the submission @tkaim. Among other things, sheas failed

to identify (1) any communication between Medtronic and Dr. Lewis regatimdrelator’s
surgery, (2) anyliscussions about submitting a claim for reimbursement in connection with the
procedure, or (3) any payments from any Defendant to Dr. Lewis, much less onegsl#bative
AKS. In the amended complairihe Relator alleged that INFUSEdPyramidwereused in her
surgery,seeAm. Compl. § 66, but she has not identified amgtancesn which Medtronc
generally promoted the use dNFUSE for use with th@yramidPlateor specifically discussed
INFUSE with Dr. Lewis. Thus, the Relator has not connedieel dots between Medtronic and
any false claim submitted to the governmenthich is necessary to state a claim.

1. Lewis Defendants

The Lewis Defendants filed a separate reply to the Relator’s response in hdyddtate
that Dr. Lewishas“no personal financial or pecuniary relationship nor has he recawgd
money fran the Medtronic Defendants, Zhe# [sic] Defendants or Dickman Defendants” and
that “[a]ny paymentsreceived from Medicare were for services rendered to her and were not
knowingly fraudulent orfalse” Docket No. 85, at 5. As for Dr. Lewis and Jackson
Neurosurgery, who were directly implicated in the Medicare bill submitted birétegor, the
Relator has provided disparate facts that do not meet the standardlbbs which governs
motions to dismiss under Rule 9(b) for FCA claims.

Grubbsinvolved a healthcare provider who had allegedly submitted false claims for
payment. The relator (1) “describe[d] in detail, including the date, placepatidipants, the
dinner meeting at which two doctors in his section attempted to bring hinthatold of their

on-going fraudulent plot,” (2) “allege[d] his firdtand experience of the schemn&foldng as it
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related to him, describing how the weekendcalt nursing staff attempted tassist him in
recording facdo-face physician visits that had not occurred,” and (3) providpdcific dates
that each doctor falsely claimed to have provided services to patients andtbéedype of
medical service or its Current Procedure Terminology code that would haveisegein the
bill.” 565 F.3d at 1992. The Relator has offered no details about meetings between Dr. Lewis
and Medtronic and no firsthandbsevations as to Medtronic’s involvement in decisions
regardingthe Relator’s surgicaprocedure.The Relator has not provided a basis in law or fact to
support her speculation about the Lewis Defend4aisd her amended complaint is due to be
dismissed under Rule 9(b).
D. Unjust Enrichment

Under Count VIII, the Relator hasised the claim that the “Defendants’ conduct”
constitutes unjust enrichment and that she is entitled to equitable relief. Am. CGpdiS.
Under Mississippi law, the Relator must “@iéeand show that the defendant holds money which
in equity and good conscience belongs to” h@wens Corning v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacca Co.

868 So. 2d 331, 342 (Miss. 2004) (quotation marks omitte@he Relator has not identified

% The Relator’'sspeculation about the Lewis Defendants as® apparently led to a case of mistaken
identity that further establishes the failed proof of the “frauduideheme” that she has alleged. The Relator alleged
that TAZ, LLG—the Mississippi company that the Relaidentified in the Secretary of State filingsvas an entity
that Dr. Adam Lewis had set up to receive funds from Dr. ThomasdAblick for his work with Medtronic
products. The Lewis Defendants stdtattTAZ, LLC, was a business that Dr. Adam Lewis formed with Tgmm
Mills and Zoe Lewis to build and/or refurbish houses for sale; thelinigA, Z, come from the initials of the first
namesof each of the company’s members and have nothing to do Wwitmas A. Zdeblick or TAZ Consulting.
Lewis states that TAZ, LLC, never started operating because of Hurricameakaid the declining housing market,
and states that it has no financial relationship to Medtronic andhéhdias never received money frahem.
Docket No. 85, at-5. Dr. Adam Lewis provides an affidavit stating the same. Docket No.»84,A& Dr. Lewis
also states in his affidavit that Lewis Medical Services, PLLC has nocfalaar pecuniary relationship to
Medtronic and it was onlgtarted to track his deductible personal expensBee id Dr. Lewis avers that Lewis
Properties, LLC was set up solely to rent houses if needed and thanhid halstionship to any other defend in
this action except him. The Relator has not estetd the validity of this information. Thus, the Court concludes
that there isno basis in fact or law to believe that the Lewis Defendants ever eyaghdands with any other
Defendants through TAZ Consulting and TAZ, LLC.
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what monies Medtronic holds that in “good conscience” belong to her, and it is difbcult t
imagine how that claim could be raised when an FCA action is premised on the defendants
owing money to the government, and the relator serves as a whistleblower who rmtifies t
government of the debt.
E. Motion to Dismiss Remaining Counts™

Defendants argue that Counts 1V, V, VI, and VII must be dismissed because no private
right of action exists for the statutes, regulations, and agreements relied yupon Relator.
These counts include violations of the AKAd the “Common Rulé® violations of various
criminal states and regulations, and a claim for relief based on a settlementesgreetween
Medtronic and the United States. At the hearing on these motions, the Relator adntitied tha
private right of action existed for these claims and conceded them.rdigly, the Court also

grants the motion to dismiss these claims.

15 In addition to joining Metionic’s lead motion to dismiss, the Dickman Defendantedfé separate
motion to dismiss the amended complaint. Docket No. Bickman’s arguments are substantially similar to
Medtronic’s lead motion except with some arguments specifically abiokiman’s lack of liability. Dickman also
asserts that the Plaintiff has failed to state a claim on the violations éfntitKickback Statute, mail fraud, wire
fraud, money laundering, and the common rule statutes (Court8)|\Wvhich covers the conduct ohedical
research on humans with federal funds, because none of thesedlssra private right of action; therefore, these
claims should be dismissed. He argues that the Dickman Defendare not parties to any of the agreements
related to the breacof contract claim (Count VII), and they should be dismissed from this.clLastly, Dickman
argues that the&Relator does not have standing to bring a claim for unjust enrichment (Count &filljhe
government’s behalf and has not alleged facts supporting the eteafenich a claimAside from the response to
Lewis’s motion to strike the amended complaint, Docket No.h&7Relatohasprovided a response to Medtrorsc’
lead motion. SeeDocket No. 8182. Shehas notprovided a response specific to Dickman’s motion or arguments.
The Court has considered the Relator’s allegations and her response rtonMediead motionseeDocket No. 81
82, to the extent that Dickman’s arguments mirror those of Medtronis feotions and Plaintiff has addredse
them, Dickman’s motion to dismiss is also granted.

18 The “common rule” regulations, 45 C.F.R. § 46.Hdkeq. govern the protection of human subjects in
research supported by the federal government. No private right otemfent exists anywhere ihefr text or
history. The Ninth Circuit, which specifically consideredthis question, has found thahe “common rulé
regulations do not confer a private right of actidihomas v. Catlin141 F. Appx 673, 674 (9th Cir. 2005) (citing
Alexanderwv. Sandoval532 U.S275, 286(2001) (“private rights of action to enforce federal law must be created by
Congress.”). Congress recently considered available enforcement mechanisms feothedn rule,” but did not
act. SeeResearch Revitalization Act of 2002, S. 3060, 107th Cong. § 501 (2002) (proposeds hikkwea enacted
and did not povide for a private right of enforcement).
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Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, the Motion to Strike the Amended Complaint is DEME&
Motion to StayProceedings is found to be MOOT; and the Motions to Dismiss the Relator’s
Amended Complaint (analyzed as motions for summary judgriilsdt by the Defendants are
GRANTED.
SO ORDERED, this the 31st day dflarch, 2014.

s/ Carlton W. Reeves
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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